No. 45392-4-II

COURT OF APPEALS **DIVISION II** OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

JAMES JOHN CHAMBERS, JR., Appellant

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Stephen G. Johnson, WSBA # 24214 Attorney for Appellant

925 South Ridgewood Avenue Tacoma, WA 98405

Telephone: Facsimile:

253.370.3931

253.238.1428

Email:

badseedlawyer@gmail.com

I. INTRODUCTION

COMES NOW the Appellant James John Chambers, Jr., by and through his attorney Stephen G. Johnson, to respectfully submit this Opening Brief of Appellant, appealing the trial court's denial of his Motion To Withdraw his plea of guilty in Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 99-1-00817-2.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in entering an order on September 27, 2013, denying Appellant's motion to withdraw his pleas of guilty in Pierce County Superior Court cause number 99-1-00817-2, judgment and sentenced entered on March 17, 2000.

Issues Pertaining To Assignments of Error

- 1. Is actual and substantial prejudice to justify a withdrawal of a guilty plea established when the Appellant was sentenced to a period of incarceration that is almost double to what the maximum sentence would be for the proper charge? (Assignment of Error No. 1)
- 2. Are pleas of guilty to two counts of First Degree Unlawful Possession of a Firearm involuntary when the Appellant does not have the requisite predicate offense necessary to elevate the offense from a Class C felony to a Class B felony? (Assignment of Error No. 1)
- 3. Did the Respondent State of Washington and the trial court fail to meet the Respondent's burden to establish prejudice to the Respondent should the trial court grant Appellant's motion to withdraw his guilty plea? (Assignment of Error No. 1)

//// ////

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Once again, Appellant James John Chambers, Jr., (henceforth Appellant) comes before Division II of the Washington State Court of Appeals seeking relief from the trial court's denial of his motion to withdraw his plea of guilty, originally made and entered on July 7, 1999, and sentenced on March 17, 2000. The Appellant's case, as well as the Appellant himself, has suffered a long and arduous journey seeking to correct a facially invalid guilty plea, as well as a facially invalid judgment and sentence. There is significant case history to review.

A. <u>In Re James John Chambers</u>, Court of Appeals, Division II, No. 38074-9-II.

Appellant sought relief via a personal restraint petition from the judgment and sentence entered in Pierce County Superior Court cause number 99-1-00817-2. On January 14, 2009, Division II of the Court of Appeals granted the Appellant's petition in part, allowing him to withdraw his guilty pleas to Counts III and IV of the Information charging him with two (2) counts of First Degree Unlawful Possession of a Firearm. See, Chambers, No. 38074-9-II, page 1, 3-4. Division II stated and found the following:

[Appellant] contends that he cannot be guilty of first degree possession of a firearm because that crime requires him to have been previously convicted of a "serious offense." RCW 9.41.040(1)(a). He contends that his prior conviction, for unlawful manufacture of marijuana, was a Class C felony, and that under RCW 9.41.010(12)(b), a "serious

offense" for a drug conviction must be for a Class B felony or higher. Thus, he contends that his prior conviction was not for a "serious offense" and he cannot be guilty of first degree unlawful possession of a firearm.

The State responds that unlawful manufacture of controlled substances is a Class B felony and therefore is a "serious offense" under RCW 9.41.010(12)(b). But not all unlawful manufacturing of controlled substances is a Class B felony. Only unlawful manufacturing of narcotic drugs, amphetamines or methamphetamines is a Class B felony. RCW 69.50.401(2)(a) and (b). Unlawful manufacturing of other Schedule I controlled substances, such as marijuana, is a Class C felony. RCW 69.50.401(2)(c). [Appellant] Chambers did not have a prior conviction for a Class B felony, and had not been previously convicted of a "serious offense" under RCW 9.41.010(12)(b) and could not be guilty of first degree unlawful possession of a firearm under RCW 9.41.040(1)(a). His judgment and sentence [under Pierce County Superior Court cause number 99-1-00817-2] is invalid on its face as to Counts III and IV. And because it is invalid as to those counts, his petition is not timebarred by RCW 10.73.090(1). In Re The Personal Restraint of LaChapelle, 153 Wn.2d 1, 6, 100 P.3d 805 (2004).

<u>Because</u> [Appellant] <u>Chambers' judgment and sentence is</u> <u>invalid on its face as to Counts III and IV, we remand to the trial court for further proceedings consistent with this order</u>. Accordingly, it is hereby

ORDERED that [Appellant] Chambers' petition is granted as to Counts III and IV. His judgment and sentence is remanded to the trial court to address those counts. In all other respects, [Appellant] Chambers' petition is denied.

See, Chambers, Court of Appeals No. 38074-9-II, page 3-4 (emphasis added). Repeatedly, Division II of the Court of Appeals found the Appellant's judgment and sentence "invalid on its face" as to Counts III and IV under Pierce County Superior Court cause number 99-1-00817-2.

Accepting discretionary review, the Washington State Supreme Court summarily amended Division II's order, remanding Appellant's motion to withdraw his plea of guilty to the trial court with the following instruction—"The motion to withdraw should be considered by the trial court in relation to counts I and II at the same time as that court considers the Court of Appeals [sic] remand as to counts III and IV." See, In Re The Personal Restraint Petition of James John Chambers, 171 Wn.2d 1035, 217 P.3d 1159 (2009).

B. <u>State v. Chambers</u>, 163 Wn.App. 54, 256 P.3d 1283 (Div. II, 2011).

Pursuant to the rulings and remands of both Division II of the Court of Appeals and the Washington State Supreme Court (see, §III.A., supra.), the Appellant sought relief in the trial court, again. Appellant brought his motion to withdraw his guilty plea on Pierce County Superior Court cause number 99-1-00817-2, citing that the judgment and sentence was facially invalid. The State of Washington opposed the motion, arguing *inter alia* that cause number 99-1-00817-2 was part of an indivisible plea agreement with two other cases, or cause numbers¹, and that the Appellant would have to withdraw his pleas of guilty to all the cases, not just 99-1-00817-2. The trial court agreed with the Appellant, stating that cause number 99-1-00817-2 was not part of an indivisible plea agreement with cause numbers 99-1-02235-3 and 99-1-05307-1, and allowed the Appellant to withdraw his guilty plea to cause number 99-1-

¹ Pierce County Superior Court cause numbers 99-1-02235-3 and 99-1-05307-1.

00817-4. See, State v. Chambers, 163 Wn.App. 54, 56-60, 256 P.3d 1283 (Div. II, 2011)². Because all the evidence in cause number 99-1-00817-4 was destroyed by the State, the case was dismissed. The State appealed the trial court's rulings. Id. Division II of the Court of Appeals, having found as a matter of law that the Appellant entered into an indivisible plea deal involving all three (3) cases, reversed the trial court and remanded the matter back to the trial court "in which [Appellant] Chambers may seek to withdraw his indivisible guilty plea on all nine counts under cause numbers 99-1-00817-2 and 99-1-05307-1." Chambers, 163 Wn.App. at 62.

C. State v. Chambers, 293 P.3d 1185 (2013).

Appellant sought discretionary review of the decision of Division II of the Court of Appeals, which the Washington State Supreme Court granted. See, State v. Chambers, 173 Wn.2d 1006, 266 P.3d 879 (2012). Appellant sought review of (1) Division II's finding that the Appellant had entered into an agreement that combined Pierce County Superior Court cause numbers 99-1-00817-2, 99-1-02235-3, and 99-1-05307-1 into an

² On or about July 2, 2010, Appellant sought to withdraw his guilty plea under Pierce County Superior Court cause number 99-1-05307-1, arguing that the trial court had entered an illegal exceptional sentence. The trial court denied the Appellant's motion, and the Appellant appealed. Division II of the Court of Appeals consolidated the Appellant's appeal from Pierce County Superior Court cause number 99-1-05307-1 with the State's appeal from Pierce County Superior Court cause number 99-1-00817-2. Division II of the Court of Appeals did not reach the merits of Appellant's appeal, declaring the issue moot in light of its ruling that the Appellant had entered into a single, indivisible plea deal. See, Chambers, 163 Wn.App. at 61, footnote 9.

Appellant relief from an illegally imposed exceptional sentence in cause number 99-1-05307-1. On the issue of whether the Appellant "agreed" to a single, indivisible plea "package," the Supreme Court affirmed the findings and analysis of Division II of the Court of Appeals. On the issue of whether Appellant's sentence in cause number 99-1-05307-1 was illegally imposed, the Supreme Court ruled against the Appellant. See, State v. Chambers, ___ Wn.2d ___, 293 P.3d 1185, 1188 – 1193 (2012). In its conclusion and ruling, the Supreme Court stated:

We hold that the agreement [Appellant] Chambers entered into was indivisible based on the parties' objective manifestation of intent. Further, we hold that Chambers fails to establish that his sentence for the November crimes [cause number 99-1-05307-1] resulted in a complete miscarriage of justice because he received the exact sentence that he stipulated to and the judge had the legal authority to impose it. Accordingly, we [II] affirm the Court of Appeals' holding as to the indivisibility of the plea agreement and [2] dismiss [Appellant] Chambers' PRP challenging his sentence for the November crimes [cause number 99-1-05307-1].

Chambers, 293 P.3d at 1193 (emphasis added).

D. Appellant's Motion To Withdraw His Plea Of Guilty.

On May 10, 2013, Appellant appeared before the Pierce County Superior Court on his motion to withdraw his guilty plea. CP 35-40. RP 2. The trial court denied the Appellant's motion to withdraw his guilty plea because "I just don't see him as disadvantaged, is the bottom line to me." RP 31, ln. 3-5.

The trial court's idea that the Appellant was not "disadvantaged," or "was not harmed," by his pleas of guilty to Counts III and IV in cause number 99-1-00817-2 seemed to be the focus of whether injustice would result in granting the Appellant's motion:

THE COURT: Let me put it this way: If he were to have chosen to go back and say, okay, we'll take these two charges in the first degree, we'll amend them to charges in the second degree, and I'll plead to the package with the amended charges, there would have been no additional jeopardy to him. He wouldn't have been paying a bigger price by way of sentence to get his deal.

RP 15, ln. 16-23.

THE COURT: So he's [the Appellant's] not suffering some injustice as a result of...of this whole arrangement."

RP 16, In. 1-2 and 4.

THE COURT: The argument being, if he was willing to plead as he did, he would certainly be willing to plead to something that was less serious than what he ultimately plead to, and so it is totally disingenuous to say he's disadvantaged by the way this has worked out.

RP 16, ln. 22 though RP 17, ln. 2.

THE COURT: If you look at the bottom line of what both the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court is trying to accomplish is the idea is that you – if there is a mistake that it made, you rectify the mistake. You ensure that the defendant is no worse off than he would have been had the mistake not happened. You don't give him a gift for a mistake having been made.

The thing you are guarding against is [sic] he is not any worse off. I am having trouble seeing where he is worse off in this regard if the State's analysis is utilized.

RP 25, $\ln 4 - 14$.

THE COURT:Did [the Appellant] Mr. Chambers get a fair shake in this whole process? If he didn't, how do we go about rectifying it without giving him a gift in the process? I, therefore, see this as two critical issues, one, is this a package deal, even though these pleas took

place sequentially and not all at one time, and is there a just result in the end. In the end, regardless of whether the State can or can't prove its case on the homicide, if they were to ultimately need to bring it or the evidence has been lost or whatever else, the deal that was contemplated during the course of this case, what has been the incentive for [the Appellant] Mr. Chambers to plead, has remained the same the whole time. To suggest now that he ought to be able to get something better than he bargained for is simply a denial of justice in this circumstance.

RP 30, $\ln 3 - 18$.

THE COURT:I just don't see him as disadvantaged, is the bottom line to me. I am going to deny the request [of Appellant to withdraw his plea of guilty].

RP 31, $\ln 3 - 5$. This appeal was timely taken.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE COURT MUST REVERSE THE TRIAL COURT, AND ORDER THE TRIAL COURT TO GRANT APPELLANT'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW HIS PLEA OF GUILTY.

The trial court erred in denying the Appellant's motion to withdraw his plea of guilty. Appellant's motion was not time barred, was necessary to correct an actual and substantial prejudice, and causes no injustice to the Respondent State of Washington.

1. <u>Appellant's Motion To Withdraw His Plea Of</u> <u>Guilty Is Not Time Barred.</u>

As has been previously litigated and firmly established as the law of the case, Appellant's motion to withdraw his plea of guilty in the cause number 99-1-00817-2 is not time barred pursuant to RCW 10.73.090(1). The judgment and sentence on cause number 99-1-00817-2 is "invalid on

its face as to Counts III and IV." <u>See, In Re Chambers</u>, No. 38074-9-II, page 3. Appellant's motion was properly before the trial court.

2. Appellant's Motion To Withdraw His Plea Of Guilty Is Necessary To Correct A Facially Invalid Judgment And Sentence, And To Correct The Actual And Substantial Prejudice That Flows Therefrom.

A post conviction motion to withdraw a plea of guilty is governed by CrR 7.8. See also, CrR 4.2(f). CrR 7.8(b)(1), (4) and (5) govern the Appellant's motion to withdraw.

It is firmly established in this case that the Appellant plead guilty to and was sentenced on two (2) charges of First Degree Unlawful Possession of a Firearm. CP 6-30. See also, In Re Chambers, No. 38074-9-II, page 3. As Division II of the Court of Appeals has already found, "[Appellant] did not have a prior conviction for a Class B felony, had not been previously convicted of a 'serious offense' under RCW 9.41.010(12)(b) and could not be guilty of first degree unlawful possession of a firearm under RCW 9.41.040(1)(a)." Id.

Next, the question is what post-conviction, collateral attack standard applied in the Appellant's present circumstances—does the Appellant have to show actual and substantial prejudice, or is prejudice presumed. Regardless of which standard applies, Appellant meets both.

In the case In Re The Personal Restraint Petition of Stockwell, 179 Wn.2d 588, 316 P.3d 1007 (2014), the Washington State Supreme Court ruled that in the circumstance of a collateral attack on a plea where a misstatement of the statutory maximum punishment was relied upon, the petitioner must demonstrate "actual and substantial prejudice resulting from the erroneous misstatement of the statutory maximum..." Stockwell, 179 Wn.2d at 605. It is doubtful whether Appellant's circumstance can be classified as an "erroneous misstatement of the statutory maximum," but Appellant can meet this standard of proof of actual and substantial prejudice to him. According to Appellant's Judgment and Sentence, he was sentenced to 116 months on Counts III and IV, the top end of a standard sentencing range of 87 to 116 months for First Degree Unlawful Possession of a Firearm. CP 22, 26. Appellant's sentencing range on Second Degree Unlawful Possession of a Firearm (with 9+ points) is 51 to 60 months. This means that as a direct consequence of an erroneous plea and conviction, the Appellant served nearly double the amount of time in custody than he would have received had he been properly charged and sentenced. This, alone, is the definition of "actual and substantial prejudice."

However, as noted above, it is doubtful that Appellant's circumstance can be classified as an "erroneous misstatement of the

statutory maximum" since he was sentenced to the upper end of the wrong charge. This means that the more restrictive burden in <u>Stockwell</u> may not necessarily apply to the Appellant, but rather that the other standard of "certain errors on direct appeal are presumed prejudicial in a PRP" applies in Appellant's matter. <u>Stockwell</u>, 179 Wn.2d at 605³ (Gordon-McCloud, J., concurring).

An involuntary plea is presumptively prejudicial on direct appeal.

Constitutional due process requires that the Defendant's guilty plea be "knowing, voluntary, and intelligent." State v. Mendoza, 157 Wn.2d 582, 587, 141 P.3d 390 (2006), citing In Re Isadore, 151 Wn.2d 294, 297, 88 P.3d 390 (2004). See also, CrR 4.2(f). CrR 4.2(f) provides that once a guilty plea is accepted, the court must allow withdrawal of the plea only "to correct a manifest injustice." CrR 4.2(f). See also, Mendoza, 157 Wn.2d at 587. Generally, "manifest injustice" is found where a defendant is denied effective counsel, where a defendant fails to ratify a plea, where a defendant makes an involuntary plea, or where the prosecution breaches the plea agreement. See, Mendoza, 157 Wn.2d at 587, citing State v.

³ "In fact, the rule established in <u>In re Personal Restraint of Richardson</u>, 100 Wash.2d 669, 679, 675 P.2d 209 (1983), overruled on other grounds by <u>State v. Dhaliwal</u>, 150 Wash.2d 559, 568, 79 P.3d 432 (2003), <u>State v. Kitchen</u>, 110 Wash.2d 403, 413, 756 P.2d 105 (1988), and <u>In re Personal Restraint of Gunter</u>, 102 Wash.2d 769, 774, 689 P.2d 1074 (1984), and restated in <u>In re the Personal Restraint of St. Pierre</u>, 118 Wash.2d 321, 328, 823 P.2d 492 (1992)— that errors which are presumptively prejudicial on direct appeal will generally be presumed prejudicial in a PRP— is still good law."

Wakefield, 130 Wn.2d 464, 472, 925 P.2d 183 (1996). "[A] defendant may also challenge the voluntariness of a plea when the defendant was misinformed about the sentencing consequences resulting in a more onerous sentence than anticipated." Id. Specifically:

a guilty plea may be deemed involuntary when based on misinformation regarding a direct consequence of the plea, regardless of whether the actual sentencing range is lower or higher than anticipated. Absent a showing that the defendant was correctly informed of all the direct consequences of his guilty plea, the defendant may move to withdraw the plea.

Mendoza, 157 Wn.2d at 591 (emphasis added). "[A] sentencing consequence is [a direct consequence of a plea] when 'the result represents a definite, immediate and largely automatic effect on the range of the defendant's punishment." Id., at 588. Length of sentence is a direct consequence of pleading guilty. Id., at 590. When determining whether a plea is constitutionally valid or not valid, the Court is not to engage in a subjective inquiry into the defendant's risk calculation and the reasons underlying his or her decision to accept the plea bargain. Id. at 590-591.

Again, there is nothing in the record to indicate that the Appellant was ever informed that he did not have the predicate offense to support a conviction of First Degree Unlawful Possession of a Firearm. Nor has the Respondent State of Washington ever produced any evidence that the Appellant knew he was pleading to a charge he could not have been

convicted of at trial; viz. no evidence that the Appellant made a valid <u>In</u>

Re Barr⁴ plea. As such, Appellant's plea was involuntary.

In either analysis, the Appellant's plea of guilty to two (2) counts of First Degree Unlawful Possession of a Firearm was actually and substantially prejudicial and involuntary entitling him to post-conviction relief.

3. The Burden Of Proving That The Respondent State
Of Washington Would Be Prejudiced By The
Granting Of Appellant's Motion Was Not Met.

Where the defendant's sentence is invalid, it is the defendant's choice of remedy to seek either specific enforcement of the plea agreement or withdrawal of the guilty plea. See, State v. Turley, 149 Wn.2d 395, 399, 69 P.3d 338 (2003), citing State v. Miller, 110 Wn.2d 528, 536, 756 P.2d 122 (1988). See also, State v. Goodwin, 146 Wn.2d 861, 50 P.3d 618 (2002). The State then bears the burden of showing that the chosen remedy is unjust and that compelling reasons exist to not allow that remedy. Turley, at 401, Miller at 535. The Appellant elects to withdraw his guilty pleas.

The Respondent State of Washington did not present any evidence or argument that the Appellant's chosen remedy was unjust to the

⁴ In Re Barr, 102 Wn.2d 265, 684 P.2d 712 (1984).

Respondent, let alone compelling reasons to deny his sought after remedy.

On the contrary, the Respondent State of Washington stated:

MR. SCHACHT: The State certainly would not characterize the equities favoring the defendant [should Appellant's plea be withdrawn]. In fact, exactly the opposite.

RP 15, ln. 9 – 11. In other words, the Respondent State of Washington is not prejudiced by granting Appellant the relief he seeks. Further, the Court itself did not focus on whether the Respondent State of Washington would suffer any prejudice as a result of Appellant's motion to withdraw his plea of guilty. Rather, the Court focused on the Appellant, and whether the Appellant was "disadvantaged." See, §III.D., supra. The Respondent failed to meet its burden, and the Appellant's motion should have been granted.

4. Appellant's Withdrawal Of His Plea Of Guilty On One Case Operates As A Withdrawal Of His Plea Of Guilty To All His Cases.

Appellant's withdrawal of his plea of guilty in Pierce County Superior Court cause number 99-1-00817-2 operates to withdraw his pleas of guilty in cause numbers 99-1-02235-3 and 99-1-05307-1 as well. See, Chambers, 163 Wn.App. at 61-62; Chambers, 293 P.3d at 1193; Turley, 149 Wn.2d at 401.

////

////

V. CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, the Appellant James John Chambers, Jr., respectfully requests that the Court REVERSE the Trial Court's denial of his Motion to Withdraw his Guilty Plea, and MANDATE that the trial court allow the Appellant to withdraw his pleas of guilty.