# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

٧.

JAMES JOHN CHAMBERS, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Thomas Felnagle

No. 99-1-00817-2, 99-1-02235-3

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By BRIAN WASANKARI Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 28945

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

## **

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

#### C. ARGUMENT.

1. DEFENDANT FAILS TO SHOW THAT HIS GUILTY PLEA WAS NOT KNOWING, INTELLIGENT, AND VOLUNTARY.

"Due process requires that a defendant's guilty plea be knowing, intelligent, and voluntary." *State v. Codiga*, 162 Wn.2d 912, 921, 175 P.3d 1082 (2008); *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S. Ct. 1709, 23

L.Ed.2d 274 (1969). Although Criminal Rule 4.2 sets forth procedure regarding a court's acceptance of a guilty plea, see CrR 4.2(d), it "is not the embodiment of a constitutionally valid plea" and "strict adherence to the rule is 'not a constitutionally mandated procedure." *Matter of Hilyard*, 39 Wn. App. 723, 727, 695 P.2d 596 (1985). Rather, "[t]he constitutionally required ingredients of a voluntary plea are these: The defendant's awareness that he is waiving his rights (1) to remain silent, (2) to confront his accusers, and (3) to jury trial; (4) his awareness of the essential elements of the offense with which he is charged; and (5) his awareness of the direct consequences of pleading guilty." *Id.* at 727.

With respect to ingredient (5), both the Washington State Supreme Court and federal courts have "distinguished direct from collateral consequences by 'whether the result represents a definite, immediate and largely automatic effect on the range of the defendant's punishment."

State v. Ross, 129 Wn.2d 279, 284, 916 P.2d 405 (1996)(citing State v. Barton, 93 Wn.2d 301, 304, 609 P.2d 1353 (1980)(quoting Cuthrell v. Director, Patuxent Inst., 475 F.2d 1364, 1366 (4th Cir.), cert. denied.,

414 U.S. 1005, 94 S. Ct. 362, 38 L. Ed. 2d 241 (1973)). See, e.g., U.S. v. Amador-Leal, 276 F.3d 511, 514 (9th Cir. 2002). There is "no due process requirement that the court orally question the defendant to ascertain whether he or she understands the consequences of the plea and the nature of the offense." Codiga, 162 Wn.2d 912, 922, 175 P.3d 1082 (2008)(citing In Re Personal Restraint of Keene, 95 Wn.2d 203, 207, 622

P.2d 360 (1980)). Rather, "[k]nowledge of the direct consequences of the plea can be satisfied by the plea documents." *Id.* (citing In re Pers. Restraint of Stoudmire, 145 Wn.2d 258, 266, 36 P.3d 1005 (2001)).

a. A challenge to the voluntariness of defendant's plea must be read in light of the Supreme Court's 2013 opinion which unequivocally established that defendant received "the precise sentence he stipulated to" in a universal plea agreement.

The Supreme Court's opinion that defendant received the precise benefit of his own stipulation reflects that his plea was knowing, voluntary and intelligent. In February, 2013, the Supreme Court reviewed defendant's "global plea agreement" and plainly stated that defendant knew what he was contracting for (and received it) when he entered into his plea agreement with the State. *State v. Chambers*, 176 Wn.2d 573 586–87, 293 P.3d 1185 (2013) (defendant "got the benefit of the bargain he made" and that he "received the precise sentence he stipulated to in the [indivisible] plea agreement.").

Nevertheless, defendant challenges the same plea agreement that was just before the Supreme Court; this time alleging that his plea was not voluntary. Br.App. at 13. The basis for defendant's claim is that, in 2009, Division 2 of this Court found that defendant's "judgment and sentence is invalid on its face as to Counts III and IV [regarding cause number 99-1-00817-2]." *In re Chambers*, No. 38074-9. Although the court only remanded to the trial court for "further proceedings consistent with this

order," defendant has repeatedly interpreted this 2009 ruling as a grant of permission to withdraw his plea. At the May 10, 2013, hearing in which defendant attempted to withdraw his indivisible plea agreement, he informed the court that that "The Court of Appeals [...] said [he]could withdraw his plea as to Counts III and IV." RP 3. But the Court of Appeals never said this. In fact, neither the Court of Appeals nor the Supreme Court has ever informed defendant that he could withdraw his plea, and most recently the trial court expressly denied such a request. <sup>5</sup>

What the Court of Appeals stated in 2009 (which pertained to the one year time bar on timely filing a Personal Restraint Petition) must be read in light of what the Supreme Court stated in 2013, which is that defendant received *precisely* what he bargained for. *Chambers*, 176 Wn.2d 573 at 586–87. The Supreme Court made this determination with full knowledge of the 2009 ruling that considered two counts of the 99-1-00817-2 cause number facially invalid. *Chambers*, 176 Wn.2d 573 at 579–80. Despite its awareness of the facial invalidity of two counts, the Supreme Court was undeterred from concluding that defendant received the benefit of his bargain. Indeed, the Court emphasized that "there is a strong public interest in enforcing the terms of voluntary and intelligently

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> State v. Chambers, 176 Wn.2d 573, 580, 293 P.3d 1185 (2013) (Supreme Court observing that "The Court of Appeals remanded, noting that [defendant] may seek to withdraw his pleas to the February [99-1-00817-2] and November [99-1-05307-1] charges" (emphasis added)).

made plea agreements." *Chambers*, 176 Wn.2d 573 at 586–87. The Supreme Court did not remand for further proceedings.

b. The pleadings support that defendant's plea was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent.

Each of defendant's statements of guilt indicate, in relevant part, as follows:

I HAVE BEEN INFORMED AND FULLY UNDERSTAND THAT I HAVE THE FOLLOWING IMPORTANT RIGHTS, AND I GIVE THEM ALL UP BY PLEADING GUILTY:

- (a) The right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury in the county where the crime is alleged to have been committed.
- (b) The right to remain silent before and during trial, and the right to refuse to testify against myself;
- (c) The right at trial to hear and question the witnesses who testify against me[.]

CP 6–17 at 7 (cause number 99-1-00817-2); CP 63–72 at 64 (cause number 99-1-02235-3); CP 73–79 at 74 (cause number 99-1-05307-1); subparts (d)–(f) omitted from each, (emphasis in original).

Defendant was aware of each of the essential elements of each offense with which he was charged. CP 6–17 at 6–9; CP 63–72 at 63; CP 73–79 at 73–75.

Defendant also knew of the direct consequences of pleading guilty.

Defendant does not dispute that he was aware of the maximum sentence

for each count.<sup>6</sup> Defendant does not claim he is subject to a sentence that exceeds the statutory maximum.

Rather, defendant presents an argument nearly identical to one rejected by the Supreme Court: that his sentence as to counts III and IV of cause number 99-1-00817-2 is invalid because it falls outside of the standard range.<sup>7</sup>

The Supreme Court addressed a similar issue with regard to Count V of cause number 99-1-05307-1, where defendant was sentenced to 240 months confinement, outside of the standard range of 149–198 months. The Court determined that defendant's sentence was valid because it was supported by substantial and compelling reasons—one of which was that defendant stipulated to the sentence in his (indivisible) plea agreement.

State v. Chambers, 176 Wn.2d 573 at 586. Indeed, defendant stipulated to his sentence in not only one cause number, but all three cause numbers as part of one global agreement. Each judgment and sentence contemplates the existence of the other.

Moreover, defendant was sentenced within the standard range on all other counts. See "Appendix A."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> "Appendix A" lists the standard range, maximum sentence, state's recommendation, and actual sentence for each count to which defendant pleaded guilty.

Defendant takes the argument one step further than he presented to the Supreme Court and argues that this sentencing "error" renders his plea involuntary. It is puzzling how defendant can argue that he was erroneously sentenced when the Supreme Court recently considered his entire plea agreement, held that he received the precise sentence to which he stipulated, and did not remand the matter to the trial court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The other reason being that defendant had multiple offenses that would go unpunished. *State v. Chambers*, 176 Wn.2d 573 at 586.

It may be possible to construe defendant's argument as challenging his plea agreement as based on a mutual mistake as to whether there was a factual basis for the first degree unlawful possession of a firearm plea. When a plea agreement rests on a mutual mistake as to the direct consequences of a plea, the plea is involuntary and the defendant may be entitled to withdrawal of the plea. State v. Barber, 170 Wn.2d 854, 872-73, 248 P.3d 494 (2011). However, the factual basis requirement of CrR 4.2 is not a direct consequence of a plea, and not "constitutionally mandated." State v. Branch, 129 Wn.2d 635, 919 P.2d 1228 (1996). While the factual basis of a plea may be constitutionally significant "insofar as it relates to the defendant's understanding of his or her plea," State v. Hews, 108 Wn.2d 579, 591-92, 741 P.2d 983 (1987), the defendant here has never argued that he did not understand his plea because of a lack of factual basis for the unlawful possession of a firearm counts. Indeed, the Supreme Court seems to have found the opposite. *Chambers*, 176 Wn.2d at 586-7.

Defendant's standard range on offenses in cause numbers 99-1-00817-2 and 99-1-02235-3 increased because, after pleading guilty but before sentencing, he committed additional offenses in cause number 99-1-05307-1. Defendant was aware that if he committed new offenses before sentencing, his standard range would increase on the charges he already pleaded guilty to. Defendant's plea indicates that:

If I am convicted of any new crimes before sentencing, or if any additional criminal history is discovered, both the standard sentence range and the prosecuting attorney's recommendation may increase. Even so, my plea of guilty to this charge is binding on me. I cannot change my mind if additional criminal history is discovered even though the standard sentencing range and the prosecuting attorney's recommendation increase or a mandatory sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole is required by law.

CP 6-17 at 10 (section 6(d)); CP 63-72 at 65.

In sum, the pleading documents support that defendant knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently, entered his guilty plea to receive the benefit of foregoing a murder prosecution.

2. WITHDRAWAL OF DEFENDANT'S PLEA WORKS AN INJUSTICE TO THE STATE WHICH HAS RELIED ON THE BARGAIN AND LOST ESSENTIAL EVIDENCE TO CONVICT DEFENDANT OF CRIMES TO WHICH HE PLEADED GUILTY MORE THAN 15 YEARS AGO.

Where a plea is involuntary because of a mutual mistake of the parties, the defendant may ordinarily withdraw his or her guilty plea, unless there are compelling reasons not to allow this. *State v. Barber*, 170 Wn.2d 854, 248 P.3d 494 (2011). Our Supreme Court has addressed when this remedy can be limited:

[T]he choice of plea withdrawal may be unfair if the prosecutor has detrimentally relied on the bargain and has lost essential witnesses or evidence. See United States v. Jerry, 487 F.2d 600 (3d Cir.1973) (loss of physical evidence and difficulty in relocating key witnesses);

Farnsworth v. Sanford, 115 F.2d 375 (5th Cir.1940) (52 witnesses dismissed after plea).

State v. Miller, 110 Wn.2d 528, 535, 756 P.2d 122 (1988), overruled on other grounds by State v. Barber, 170 Wn.2d 854, 873–74, 248 P.3d 494 (2011)(emphasis added).

Even were this Court to consider defendant's plea as involuntary, compelling reasons support that he should not be allowed to withdraw it. More than 15 years have passed since the State charged defendant under the 99-1-00817-2 cause number. The State no longer has access to evidence that would support the offenses defendant pleaded guilty to in that cause number. The circumstances of this case place it squarely within the injustice limitation of *Miller* (see above).

Defendant argues that "the Respondent State of Washington did not present any evidence or argument that the Appellant's chosen remedy was unjust to the respondent, let alone compelling reasons to deny his sought after remedy." Br.App. at 14. The State *did* present such argument, several times, in briefing and at oral argument. *See*, *e.g.*, <u>CP</u> 47–58 at pp. 6–7 ("[T]he question of injustice has also been answered by the Supreme Court. That court reviewed the defendant's sentence and [concluded] that the defendant received exactly what he bargained for.

Other manifestations of injustice were discussed in briefing to the trial court, and are incorporated by reference below.

There should be little argument now that there is something unjust about a sentence that did not shock the conscience of the Supreme Court"); <u>CP</u>

47–58 at pp. 7–9 (entire section titled "Injustice"); <u>CP 47–58 at pp. 8–9</u>

(State addressing three specific forms of injustice as follows:

First there is the injustice of the state being unable to prosecute the defendant for the offenses under one of the cause numbers that were part of the indivisible plea agreement [because the State's evidence had been destroyed].

A second form of injustice is the effect of dismantling the plea agreement on the potential murder prosecution. The injustice in this case is palpable. The defendant was not prosecuted in 1999 for the murder of 90 year old Margaret Hill. The plea agreement was entered into in large part because the defendant was willing to plead guilty and be sentenced for a combination of offenses that would approximate the sentence he could have faced for potential homicide charges. To now allow the defendant to back out of the plea agreement is to do irreparable damage to the state's ability to obtain a full measure of justice. The defendant committed the murder while on pretrial release for the other two cause numbers. That injustice should not be compounded by requiring the state to prosecute the defendant for a murder that is now thirteen years old.

Finally, there is the injustice in the defendant's choice of remedies. As was pointed out above, the defendant seeks to withdraw all of his pleas to all of the ten counts on the pretext that there was a defect in two of them. This too by itself is an injustice.

RP 11–12 ("The injustice that attends to doing this 13 years later is apparent"); and RP 12 ("The injustice to undoing eight counts for the purpose of what the defense claims was an improper conviction on only two of the counts is also an injustice that should not attend and should not be given effect by granting these motions").

The trial court agreed with the State that it would be unfair for defendant to withdraw his plea; doing so, would be to "giv[e] him a gift in the process." RP 30–31. The trial court, like the Supreme Court, emphasized that defendant received what he bargained for. RP 30–31. Defendant avoided a murder prosecution by entering into his guilty plea with the State. Allowing defendant to withdraw his guilty plea 15 years after entering it, after the State has lost essential evidence on one of the cause numbers, is an affront to the justice contemplated by both parties at the time of the agreement.

#### D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>.

For the reasons stated above, the State respectfully asks this Court to affirm the trial court's denial of defendant's motion to withdraw his indivisible guilty plea.

DATED: August 27, 2014.

MARK LINDQUIST

Pierce County

Prosecuting Attorney

BRIAN WASANKARI

**Deputy Prosecuting Attorney** 

WSB # 28945

Chris Bateman

Rule 9 Legal Intern